Survey of Select Eastern Oyster (Crassostrea virginica) Populations

in Lake Worth Lagoon, Palm Beach County, Florida

2010 Annual Report

Palm Beach County, Department of Environmental Resources Management

Project #2008-0404

John Scarpa

Susan E. Laramore

Harbor Branch Oceanographic Institute at Florida Atlantic University

Aquaculture and Stock Enhancement Program

5600 North U.S Hwy 1

Fort Pierce, FL 34946

June 4, 2010



FIGURES	
TABLES	6
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	7
Introduction	7
Objectives	7
Methods	7
Results	
Juvenile growth	
Discussion	
Conclusions	
MATERIALS AND METHODS.	
Sampling Sites, Dates and Environmental Conditions:	
Conation Index, Reproductive Stage, and Disease Monitoring:	
Spat Recruitment:	
Oyster Growin Monitoring:	
Semi-Annual Aauti Oyster Survey: Statistical Analysis:	
RESULTS	
Environmental Conditions	
Oyster Survey	
Adult Oyster Samples Condition Index Reproductive Stage Oyster Disease	
Oyster Spat Recruitment	
Juvenile Oyster Growth	
DISCUSSION	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Environmental Conditions	
Adult Surveys	
Adult Monitoring	
Condition Index	
Reproduction	
Disease	
Larval Recruitment	
Juvenile growth	
CONCLUSIONS	
SUMMARY CONCLUSIONS	
RECOMMENDATIONS	
REFERENCES	54
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	58

FIGURES

Figure 1. Annual average salinity (<u>+</u> SE) at oyster monitoring sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-
February 2010
Figure 2. Average annual oyster density (<u>+</u> SE) of sampling sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008 to
February 2010
Figure 3. Average annual (<u>+</u> SE) condition index (CI) of oysters sampled from sites in Lake Worth Lagoon
from March 2008 to February 2010
Figure 4. Annual average (+SE) Dermo prevalence at sampling sites in the Lake Worth Lagoon from March
2008 to February 2010
Figure 5. Average annual (+SE) number of spat collected at sampling sites in the Lake Worth Lagoon from
March 2008 to February 201011
Figure 6. Final annual mean shell height (<u>+</u> SE) of juvenile oysters on shell arrays at sampling sites in Lake
Worth Lagoon
Figure 7: Satellite view of north and central portion of the Lake Worth Lagoon detailing the MacArthur,
Ibis Isle and Snook Island sampling sites16
Figure 8. Oyster monitoring sites in Lake Worth Lagoon: A) John D. MacArthur Beach State Park, B) Ibis
Isle, and C) Snook Islands. Arrows indicate location of spat collectors and shell array17
Figure 9. Oyster spat collectors (PVC T-bars with strung shells) at each monitoring site in the Lake Worth
Lagoon; A) MacArthur Beach State Park, B) Ibis Isle, C) Snook Island – Inner, and D) Snook Island –
Outer. Oyster growth monitoring arrays with white marker buoy can be seen in C and D. Survey
quadrat can be seen in B
Figure 10. Water temperature at ovster monitoring sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February
2010. n.b.: Only one water temperature was recorded at Snook Island in March 2008
Figure 11. Salinity at ovster monitoring sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010. <i>nb</i> :
Only one salinity was recorded at Snook Island in March 2008
Figure 12. Dissolved oxygen (mg/L) at ovster monitoring sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-
February 2010. <i>n.b.</i> : Only one dissolved oxygen reading was recorded at Snook Island in March 2008
23
Figure 13. pH at ovster monitoring sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010. <i>n.b.</i> : No
pH data was taken in March 2008. No pH data was taken at MacArthur in April 2008
Figure 14. Water clarity by secchi disk depth at ovster monitoring sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March
2008-February 2010. <i>n.b.</i> : No reading was taken in March 2008 and most readings were at maximum
denth
Figure 15 Mean (+SE) ovster density from sampling sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from the 2008 and 2009
spring and fall surveys h · Mac-MacArthur II-Ibis Isles SI-Snook Island Mean densities were
determined without the inclusion of zero quadrate
Figure 16 Moon (JSF) overar shall beight from sampling sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from the 2008 and
2000 gnving and fall guvvag why Mag-Mag Arthur, H-Ibig Islag, SI- Snaak Island 26
2007 Spring and ran surveys. <i>no</i> Mac-March thur, 11-1015 18105, 51- 51100K Island
Figure 17. Weah (\pm 5E) density of oysters at different heights on Shook Island Tiplap. Bottom is the base of
the riprap, closest to water at low ude. Mindule is between the bottom and top. Top is the crest, which is
not covered by water, but crevices contain oysters
Figure 18. Mean (±SE) snell neight of oysters sampled from sites in Lake worth Lagoon from March 2008-
February 2010. <i>n.b.</i> Snook Island is combined inner/outer
Figure 19. Mean (±SE) whole weight of oysters sampled from sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-
February 2010. n.b. Snook Island is combined inner/outer
Figure 20. Mean (±SE) condition index of oysters sampled from sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March
2008-February 2010. n.b. Snook Island is combined inner/outer
Figure 21. Reproductive stage frequency of oysters sampled from MacArthur site in Lake Worth Lagoon
from March 2008-February 2010 30
Figure 22. Reproductive stage frequency of oysters sampled from Ibis Isle site in Lake Worth Lagoon from
March 2008-February 2010 31
Figure 23. Reproductive stage frequency of oysters sampled from Snook Island site in Lake Worth Lagoon

Figure 24. Photomicrographs (40x) of stage 1-2 (early gametogenesis), 6-7(spawning) gonads from female
(A,C) and male (B,D) oysters sampled from Lake Worth Lagoon
Figure 25. Gender frequency of oysters sampled from MacArthur, Ibis Isle and Snook Island sites in Lake
Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010. n.b. Snook Island is combined inner/outer
Figure 26. Mean (±SE) Dermo (Perkinsus sp.) intensity in oysters sampled from sites in Lake Worth Lagoon
from March 2008-February 2010. n.b. Snook Island is combined inner/outer
Figure 27. Dermo prevalence of oysters sampled from sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-
February 2010. n.b. Snook Island is combined inner/outer
Figure 28. Nematopsis sp. prevalence of oysters sampled from sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-
February 2010. n.b. Snook Island is combined inner/outer
Figure 29. Bucephalus sp. prevalence of oysters sampled from sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-
February 2010. n.b. Snook Island is combined inner/outer
Figure 30. Tylocephalum sp. prevalence of oysters sampled from sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March
2008-February 2010. n.b. Snook Island is combined inner/outer
Figure 31. Turbellarian prevalence of oysters sampled from sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-
February 2010. n.b. Snook Island is combined inner/outer
Figure 32. <i>Eutima</i> sp. prevalence of oysters sampled from sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-
February 2010. n.b. Snook Island is combined inner/outer
Figure 33. Oyster spat (arrows, left shell) and barnacles (right shell) on spat collector shells from Ibis Isle site
of Lake Worth Lagoon in June 200841
Figure 34. Mean (<u>+</u> SE) number of oyster spat/shell from sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-
February 2010. n.b.: In March 2008 there was no data as spat collectors were initially placed in the
water this month. The number of spat/shell was >45 in May and October of 2009 and is indicated by
written notation (including SE) adjacent to the bar41
Figure 35. Oyster spat (arrow) being measured on shell array at Ibis Isle
Figure 36. Mean (±SE) shell height of juvenile oysters on shell arrays from all sites in Lake Worth Lagoon
from March 2008- February 201043
Figure 37. Oyster drills Urosalpinx sp. or Eupleura sp. (on ruler) and their eggs cases (white arrows) on
oyster shell array at Snook Island-Inner in December 200844

TABLES

Table 1.	Qualitative reproductive stage criteria for Eastern oysters, Crassostrea virginica	18
Table 2.	Mackin scale showing stages of Perkinsus marinus (dermo) infection intensity	19

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Introduction

Oysters provide numerous ecological benefits including habitat diversity, erosion control and improvement of water quality. Restoration and enhancement of natural oyster reefs and the creation of additional oyster reefs are important components of Palm Beach County Department of Environmental Resources Management's (PBC-ERM) mission to restore and manage the Lake Worth Lagoon (LWL) ecosystem. To this end, monitoring projects are necessary to determine the health and productivity, not only of existing natural oyster beds, but to determine the success of artificially created oyster beds.

This report presents the findings of a two year (March 2008-February 2010) monitoring project by Harbor Branch Oceanographic Institute at Florida Atlantic University of two natural oyster reefs located in the northern and central Lake Worth Lagoon, and one artificially created oyster habitat in the central Lagoon. The sites chosen by PBC-ERM were a natural bed located at John D. MacArthur Beach State Recreation Park located in the estuary off the northern end of the Lake Worth Lagoon, a natural bed located at Ibis Isle in the central Lagoon, and a created bed centrally located at the Snook Islands Natural Area in the central Lagoon.

Objectives

The major objective of this study was to determine the health and productivity of each site and the potential for expanding reefs at or near these locations. This was accomplished by monitoring changes in: 1) environmental and water quality parameters, 2) size and density of adult oysters, 3) physiological condition and reproductive potential of adult oysters, 4) recruitment of larval oysters, 5) growth of newly set oysters, and 6) prevalence and intensity of oyster diseases, with emphasis placed on Dermo (*Perkinsus marinus*) and MSX (*Haplosporidum nelsoni*).

Methods

Sites were visited monthly, typically at low tide, where temperature, salinity, dissolved oxygen, pH and water clarity measurements were taken, and ten (MacArthur, Ibis Isles) to twelve (Snook Island) adult eastern oysters, *Crassostrea virginica*, were collected. All oysters were weighed and measured. The physiological condition of half of the sampled oysters at each site were analyzed by condition index (comparison of dry tissue to dry shell weight), while the remaining oysters were processed for reproductive and disease analysis using histological and other (Ray's fluid thioglycollate medium) methods for parasitic determination. Oyster spat recruitment was monitored by counting the number of settled spat that collected on strings of oyster shell deployed along the edge of the oyster beds that were removed and replaced each month. Juvenile growth was monitored by measuring the shell height of settled oysters on fixed oyster arrays likewise containing oyster shell that were deployed near the spat collectors. Twice a year, in spring (April) and fall (October), a survey of the adult oyster population was conducted to determine the density and size of live and dead oysters at each site.

Results

Water Quality Parameters

No variation was seen between the northern and central sites in regards to temperature or other environmental parameters measured, except for salinity. Salinity varied significantly between sites, with the two central sites experiencing wide variation in salinity. Differences were especially apparent in summer, when salinities at the central sites (Ibis Isle and Snook Island) were 10-15 ppt lower than at the northern MacArthur site. MacArthur had the highest average salinity and Ibis Isle the lowest salinity of the three sites (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Annual average salinity (<u>+</u>SE) at oyster monitoring sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010.

Adult Oyster Density

Live oyster density was significantly greater at Ibis Isle compared to MacArthur for both years of the study, and significantly greater compared to Snook Island in year one (Fig 2). Densities were higher in fall than in spring at all sites. Oyster density at Snook Island showed no vertical distribution differences between the base and middle of the riprap, but oysters were rarely found at the top of the Island.



Figure 2. Average annual oyster density (<u>+</u>SE) of sampling sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008 to February 2010.

Physiological Condition

Oysters at Snook Island had the highest condition index (CI) in year one, while oysters at MacArthur had the highest CI in year two (Fig 3). CI was high at all sites during the winter. Low CI's were seen in the spring of year one at both MacArthur and Snook Island. Oysters at MacArthur had significantly higher CI's from August through December 2009 than the two central Lagoon sites.



Figure 3. Average annual (<u>+</u>SE) condition index (CI) of oysters sampled from sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008 to February 2010.

Reproduction

Oysters were reproductively active at all sites, except during the winter. Oysters at the central Lagoon sites had a prolonged spawning period in year one compared to year two. Reproduction of oysters at MacArthur significantly lagged behind those at the two central Lagoon sites in year one but not in year two. Two reproductive peaks were seen at all three sites in year one in early summer and fall. In year two only oysters at Snook Island had two reproductive peaks, one in the spring and another in the fall. Reproductive peaks occurred only in the fall at both Ibis Isle and MacArthur in year two.

Disease

Dermo (*Perkinsus marinus*) was present year round at all three sites. Annual prevalence was similar, although levels were slightly lower at Snook Island (Fig. 4). Prevalence was lowest at all sites during the winter and low at the central sites concurrent with low salinity events. Intensity, as defined on a 0-5 Mackin scale, ranged from 0-4.5. Average annual intensities ranged from 0.85-1.2, with MacArthur having the highest annual intensities and Snook Island the lowest. No MSX (*Haplosporodium nelsoni*) was found at any of the sites. Other parasites of note included the gregarine protozoan *Nematopsis sp.*, turbellarians, the trematode *Bucephalus*, the cestode *Tylocephalum*, cnidarians of the genus *Eutima sp.* and the pea crab *Pinnotheres sp.*



Figure 4. Annual average (<u>+</u>SE) Dermo prevalence at sampling sites in the Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008 to February 2010.

Larval Recruitment

The highest larval recruitment occurred at Snook Island and the lowest at MacArthur (Fig. 5). Bi-annual recruitment peaks occurred only at Snook Island. Larval recruitment occurred from late spring/early summer through fall at all sites, and followed the same pattern as reproductive activity. Level of recruitment appeared to be related to adult oyster density.



Figure 5. Average annual (<u>+</u>SE) number of spat collected at sampling sites in the Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008 to February 2010.

Juvenile growth

Growth, as defined by shell height, was highest at Ibis Isle in year one and at MacArthur in year two (Fig. 6). Growth was lowest at Snook Island both years, and lower at Snook Island-Outer than Snook Island-Inner, although numerous problems plagued the collection of data at Snook Island-Outer.



Figure 6. Final annual mean shell height $(\pm SE)$ of juvenile oysters on shell arrays at sampling sites in Lake Worth Lagoon.

Discussion

Both temperature and salinity played a role in determining reproduction, recruitment and disease prevalence and intensity. Expected seasonal temperature variation was seen, with the exception of an unprecedented cold spell in January of 2010. Although no immediate ramifications were apparent during the final February monitoring, effects may have occurred after the study's conclusion. No variation was seen between the northern and central sites in regards to the other environmental parameters measured, with the exception of salinity. Salinity varied significantly between sites, with the two central sites experiencing wide variation in salinity. MacArthur had the highest overall salinity and Ibis Isle had the lowest overall salinity.

Based on oyster density alone, Ibis Isle was the most productive of the three areas, followed by Snook Island and lastly MacArthur. The oyster bed at MacArthur had the lowest oyster density in spring and fall of both years, whereas the oyster bed at Ibis Isle had the highest density. Increases in density from spring to fall were seen at all sites with the exception of Snook Island in year one. This increase is expected based on recruitment that takes place in the Lake Worth Lagoon from spring to fall.

None of the sites exhibited a consistently higher condition index (CI) than another. CI was highest for Snook Island in year one and for MacArthur in year two. Salinity stress may have lowered the CI at the two central sites in year two due to fresh water releases. A prolonged period of low salinity occurred in the central Lagoon during the summer of year two compared to the previous summer. Restoration activities occurring at Ibis Isle during the summer likely added to oyster stress. However, this higher CI did not translate into increased reproductive activity or recruitment for MacArthur in year two.

Reproductive activity occurred continuously at all sites from spring to fall. Greater and longer reproductive activity was generally seen in year one in comparison to year two. Reproductive peaks occurred in either April or June and again in September. As CI decreased in the central Lagoon during the summer of year two so did reproductive activity. Recruitment followed the same pattern as reproductive activity in year two and was concentrated in the fall.

Dermo (*Perkinsus marinus*) was prevalent at all sites year round, though variability was seen between sites, seasons, and years. Intensities generally followed prevalence. Lowered prevalence and intensity occurred concurrent with lowered winter temperatures. As temperature was similar at all sites, salinity contributed to the variability seen between sites. Ibis Isle and Snook Island experienced a more variable salinity than MacArthur, and consequently a lower prevalence and intensity of Dermo. MSX (*Haplosporidum nelsoni*) was not noted in samples from any site. In addition to Dermo, parasites detected in this study included the gregarine protozoan *Nematopsis sp.*, turbellarians, the trematode *Bucephalus*, and the cestode *Tylocephalum*. Mollusks are intermediate hosts for most of these species and their presence in the oysters is indicative of a healthy ecosystem.

Recruitment occurred at all sites from spring through fall, but the level varied significantly depending on the site. Recruitment was constant and low at MacArthur, while major peaks occurred in the fall in the central Lagoon. Two periods of peak recruitment were seen at Snook Island; summer and fall (year one) and spring and fall (year two). A relationship appears to exist between adult density and recruitment as the lowest recruitment was seen at MacArthur, which also had the lowest adult density.

Growth of juvenile oysters varied between sites and years. Growth was greater at MacArthur and Ibis Isle than at Snook Island. Final shell height was greater in year one than in year two at MacArthur and Ibis Isle, but greater at Snook Island in year two. Growth was consistently lower at Snook Island-Outer than at the other sites. Several factors, including heavy predation by oyster drills in year one and continual overlay of new spat, may explain the lower growth at this site. Snook Island was the only site with two recruitment peaks. The overlay of new spat settling on arrays may have had the effect of decreasing the overall mean shell height.

Conclusions

Oyster densities on Florida's west coast (Caloosahatchee River) are much higher than all east coast sites, including the LWL. In all other parameters measured (i.e., reproductive activity, juvenile growth, and condition index) LWL oysters are comparable to those of other Florida east and west coast oysters within year to year variability. Based on these studies further oyster reef restoration projects within LWL should be successful whether projects considered are large, such as the Snook Island project, or small in scope, such as envisioned in the Living Shoreline projects.

All three sites monitored over the past two years have healthy oysters present. Although the natural oyster bed at MacArthur is subjected to less salinity pressure, it had the lowest density

and recruitment. Still, oysters at MacArthur had as high or higher CI and juvenile growth than oysters in the central Lagoon. The natural oyster beds at Ibis Isle had the highest density and single-month recruitment, but the site is substrate limited. The artificially constructed Snook Island environmental enhancement area had the highest annual recruitment (twice that of Ibis Isle and ten times that of MacArthur), but oyster density was only one-fifth to three-quarters that of Ibis Isle, though twice as high as at MacArthur, indicating this site may be substrate limited. Although no oysters grew on the top of the vertical structure, it is recommended that the height not be decreased due to the eventual wear and movement of rock at the base of the Island.

Lake Worth Lagoon is a productive system with patches of healthy oyster beds that provide the recruitment necessary to seed large (Snook Island) and small restoration projects, as long as other environmental factors (salinity, hydrology, food availability) and substrate type (hard bottom, mud) are considered. Based on this two year monitoring study, additional restoration projects should not only be successful, but would improve water quality, provide erosion control and increase habitat for associated species such as other invertebrates, fish, and birds.

INTRODUCTION

The Eastern (or American) oyster *Crassostrea virginica* is abundant throughout much of the Atlantic and Gulf of Mexico coasts of the U.S. (Carriker and Gafney 1996). This commercially valuable species is typically found in shallow, moderate salinity waters and attaches to both hard and soft substrata (Shumway 1996). The Eastern oyster has been the subject of farming and aquaculture since the 1800's and in the last two decades the focus of restoration (e.g., Coen et al. 1999) as oyster reefs or beds are considered an imperiled marine habitat (Beck et al. 2009).

In addition to their economic importance as a fishery, oyster reefs are important in providing a habitat for numerous other species, in improving water quality and in nutrient cycling. Species commonly associated with oysters include encrusting organisms such as bryozoans, barnacles, sponges, mussels and other bivalves (Wells 1961). Species that live within oyster reefs include various crustaceans (crabs, shrimp), worms, gastropods (snails) and fish (gobies, blennies, pipefish). Species of commercial value associated with oyster reefs include flounder, striped bass, cobia, Spanish mackerel, pinfish, blue crab, stone crab, penaeid shrimp, black drum, and several species of mullet.

Oysters are suspension feeders and remove particles from the water column. The filtration activity of *Crassostrea virginica* in Chesapeake Bay has been estimated to be 163 liters per gram (of oyster tissue) per day (Newell 1988). Many of the encrusting organisms that live on oysters (tunicates, barnacles) and other organisms that live within the oyster reefs are also suspension feeders and contribute to improving water quality.

In Florida, restoration of Eastern oyster populations is an important component of the Comprehensive Everglades Restoration Program (CERP) and is a matter of prime importance for local governments, environmental organizations, and the general public. The Eastern oyster has been selected as a target species for monitoring and restoration because of its wide distribution, historical context, and essential habitat value (e.g., Coen and Grizzel 2007, Volety et al. 2009). Restoration and management efforts have to be based upon historical and present knowledge of populations and their potential for expansion. Returning function to a habitat is the ultimate goal of a restoration effort. Monitoring is an essential part of all restoration projects and should be performed before, during, and after restoration to assess changes throughout the course of the project in order to evaluate, among other things, the habitat, the restoration technique, the stressors, the sites proposed for restoration, and to facilitate management. Environmental managers estimate there are over 185 acres of suitable area for oyster reef enhancement in the Lake Worth Lagoon. Oyster reefs are found in several locations within the Lagoon including Munyon Island, Ibis Isle, Snook Island, Everglades Island, Audubon Island, John's Island and John D. MacArthur Beach State Park. To that end, health and abundance of oysters were measured at three of those sites within the Lake Worth Lagoon (LWL) system of Palm Beach County. Growth, condition index, recruitment, reproduction, and disease status of Eastern oysters, Crassostrea virginica, at two natural (Ibis Isle, MacArthur) and one man-made (Snook Island) sites in the Lake Worth Lagoon system (Fig. 7) were measured from March 2008 through February 2010. Methodology generally followed that of similar oyster monitoring projects (Arnold et al. 2008; Parker and Geiger 2009; Volety et al. 2009) to assist in data comparison.

The data generated from this study will augment ongoing Eastern oyster research being conducted through CERP.



Figure 7: Satellite view of north and central portion of the Lake Worth Lagoon detailing the MacArthur, Ibis Isle and Snook Island sampling sites.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sampling Sites, Dates and Environmental Conditions:

The project was initiated on 21 March 2008. Oyster populations monitored in the Lake Worth Lagoon (LWL) of Palm Beach County, Florida were located at the northern portion of the LWL within John D. MacArthur Beach State Park (Fig. 1A), central LWL near Ibis Isle (Fig. 1B), and central LWL at Snook Islands (inner and outer side of one island) near the Lake Worth Municipal Golf Course (Fig. 1C). The Snook Islands are a series of man-made mangrove and rock islands that were constructed in 2005 of fill and limestone boulder riprap laid upon a sand base (Carson 2007).



Figure 8. Oyster monitoring sites in Lake Worth Lagoon: A) John D. MacArthur Beach State Park, B) Ibis Isle, and C) Snook Islands. Arrows indicate location of spat collectors and shell array.

Sites were examined near low tide. Sampling occurred in 2008 on 21 March, 16-18 April (survey month), 16 May, 16 June, 1-2 July, 1-2 August, 11 September, 13-15 October (survey month), 12 November, and 9 December. In 2009, sampling occurred on 9 January, 9 February, 9 March, 21-24 April (survey month), 21 May, 23-24 June, 21 July, 18 August, 15-16 September, 13-16 October (survey month), 17 November, and 14 December. In 2010, sampling occurred on 11 January and 10 February.

The following environmental measurements were taken during each sampling:

a) Dissolved oxygen (mg/L and % saturation) using a YSI-85 meter (Yellow Springs Instruments),

- b) Salinity (ppt) using a YSI-85 meter,
- c) Water temperature (°C) using a YSI-85 meter,
- d) Air temperature (°C) using a standard thermometer,
- e) Water clarity or light penetration (cm) using a 20 cm diameter secchi disk, and

f) pH using a handheld pH meter (pHep, Hanna Instruments).

Condition Index, Reproductive Stage, and Disease Monitoring:

Ten to twelve Eastern oysters, greater than 51 mm in height (hinge to lip), were collected monthly at each site. Oysters from each site were placed in a cooler with ice packs and transported live to Harbor Branch Oceanographic Institute in Fort Pierce, Florida for processing the same or next day. Oysters were processed for condition index, reproductive stage and disease status as follows. For condition index, five to six oysters from each site were thoroughly cleaned of external fouling organisms and oyster spat under fresh running water. Oyster height

(dorsal-ventral or hinge to lip) was measured using digital Vernier calipers (Fisher Scientific, model 06-664-16). Oyster whole-weight, meat weight and shell weight were measured using a digital balance (Denver Instruments, model P-230). Oysters were shucked by hand with a shucking knife and meat was separated from the shell halves. Meat and shells were placed in separate numbered pre-weighed aluminum pans, weighed, and then dried in an oven for 24-48 hrs at 80-100°C. Condition index was calculated as the proportion of tissue dry weight to shell dry weight, multiplied by 100 (Wilson et al. 2005).

The remaining five to six collected oysters were processed for reproductive and disease analyses. For reproductive analysis, a 5-10 mm thick section of tissue encompassing the gonad was cut transversely with a razor blade. The tissue was placed in a tissue holder and placed in Davidson's fixative for 48-72 hr before being transferred to 70% ethanol for subsequent histological preparation (Barber 1996, Wilson et al. 2005). Histological preparation consisted of dehydrating each gonad sample through a series of ethanol solutions (70-100%) for a minimum of one hour each, followed by clearing with toluene and then embedding the tissue sample in paraffin. Multiple 5-8 μ m sections were cut from each embedded sample using a microtome, maintaining a minimum separation of 60 μ m (the approximate maximum diameter of an oocyte) between sections. Thin sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin and then mounted on pre-labeled glass slides for examination. Resultant slides were examined at 100-400x with the aid of a compound microscope and each sample assigned to a reproductive stage following a classification scheme (Table 1) modified from the work of Fisher et al. (1996).

Table 1. Qualitative reproductive stage criteria for Eastern oysters, Crassostrea virginica.

VALUE

OBSERVATION

- 0 Neuter or resting stage with no visible signs of gametes
- 1 Gametogenesis has begun with no mature gametes (i.e., undifferentiated)
- 2 First appearance of mature gametes to approximately one-third mature gametes in follicles
- 3 Follicles have approximately equal proportions of mature and developing gametes
- 4 Gametogenesis progressing, but follicles dominated by mature gametes
- 5 Follicles distended and filled with ripe gametes, limited gametogenesis, ova compacted into polygonal configurations and sperm have visible tails
- 6 Active emission (spawning) occurring; general reduction in sperm density or morphological rounding of ova
- 7 Follicles one-half depleted of mature gametes
- 8 Gonadal area is reduced, follicles two-thirds depleted of mature gametes
- 9 Only residual gametes remain, some cytolysis evident
- 10 Gonads completely devoid of gametes and cytolysis is ongoing

The tissue that remained following the extraction of the gonad sample was utilized for assessment of Dermo disease, a bivalve protozoan parasite (*Perkinsus sp.*). Dermo was quantitatively assessed using Ray's fluid thioglycollate medium (RFTM) as described by Bushek et al. (1994) as follows. Small pieces (approximately 1 cm²) of gill and mantle tissue were incubated in RFTM with antibiotics/antimycotics for 5-7 days at room temperature (20-25°C).

Tissue pieces were then placed on glass microscope slides, macerated with a razor blade, stained with Lugol's iodine solution, and examined microscopically (400x) for the presence of hypnospores. Parasite density (i.e., infection intensity) was ranked using the Mackin scale, which ranges from 0 (no infection) to 5 (heavy infection). Average parasite density and prevalence (i.e., proportion of oysters with Dermo) were calculated monthly for each site.

Slides used for reproductive stage analysis were also used to determine the presence of MSX and other parasites. Finished slides were examined microscopically (400-1000x) for MSX and other parasites. Infections were classified as light, moderate, or heavy. Mean prevalence (i.e., proportion of oysters infected) of parasite infections was calculated monthly for each site.

Stage	Category	Cell Number	Notes
0	Uninfected	No cells	
0.5	Very light	< 10 cells in entire preparation	
1.0	Light	11-100 cells in entire preparation	Cells scattered or in clusters of 10-
			15 cells
2.0	Light-moderate		Localized infections of 25-50 cells
			or 2-3 parasites in each field at 100
			X
3.0	Moderate	2-3 parasites in all fields at 100X	Majority are localized
4.0	Moderate-heavy	Parasites present in large numbers	Less than 50% of tissue appears
			blue black macroscopically
5.0	Heavy	Enormous numbers of parasites	Majority of tissue stains blue black
			when examined macroscopically

Table 2. Mackin scale showing stages of Perkinsus marinus (Dermo) infection intensity

Spat Recruitment:

Oyster spat recruitment was monitored by using spat collectors (Arnold et al. 2008, Parker and Geiger 2009). At each site, three replicate spat collectors were deployed along the edge of the oyster bed facing open water (Figs. 2A-D). Each collector consisted of two sets of six axenic adult oyster shells (5.5-7.5 cm shell height) strung together on galvanized wire and hung from a 1.9 cm diameter PVC T-bar (approximately 79 cm tall and 33 cm across at the T); one set of shells on each side of the T. Shells were oriented with their inner surface facing down when suspended off the bottom; lowest shell was 5-10 cm off the bottom. Oyster recruitment was calculated by counting the number of settled spat on the underside of each strung shell and dividing by the number of total shells. Visualization of oyster spat was assisted by using a lighted magnifier (LumaPro, 5 Diopter Lens, Grainger Intl., IL). Spat collectors were deployed in March 2008 and recovered and replaced monthly.

Oyster Growth Monitoring:

Growth of oysters was monitored at each site by using shell arrays. A single array was deployed close to the spat collectors at each site (Fig. 2C & 2D). Each array consisted of twenty five axenic oyster shells (51-75 mm shell height with a 6.8 mm hole drilled centrally) anchored by

fishing line to a 60x60 cm piece of PVC-coated wire mesh (12.5 mm openings). The array was placed horizontally at the edge of each reef site and kept off the bottom by two PVC pipes (10 cm diam.). The array was anchored to the substrate by nylon rope secured to a trailer anchor, which was screwed into the sand/mud bottom, and marked with a small white foam buoy (Fig. 2C & 2D). The oyster growth monitoring arrays were examined monthly and the shell height of 30 random oyster recruits, or all oysters if less than 30 oysters, were measured. The arrays set out in April 2008, which coincides with the beginning of oyster spawning season, were removed in March 2009 and a new set of arrays were deployed. Shells in the new arrays were attached to the wire mesh using small plastic cable ties, which were easier to use compared to fishing line.



Figure 9. Oyster spat collectors (PVC T-bars with strung shells) at each monitoring site in the Lake Worth Lagoon; A) MacArthur Beach State Park, B) Ibis Isle, C) Snook Island – Inner, and D) Snook Island – Outer. Oyster growth monitoring arrays with white marker buoy can be seen in C and D. Survey quadrat can be seen in B.

Semi-Annual Adult Oyster Survey:

A survey of oysters at each site was conducted semi-annually in spring (April) and fall (October). At MacArthur and Ibis Isle, up to $15 \frac{1}{4}$ -m² quadrats were randomly deployed on the reef (Fig. 2B), whereas at Snook Island transects were made over the rock riprap to accommodate vertical height and included both the inner and outer sections. All oysters within each quadrat were moved, except at Snook Island as they were firmly attached to the rock, for determination of the number of live and dead oysters with articulated shells. Shell height was measured with a flexible plastic ruler for a maximum of 30 randomly selected live oysters for each quadrat (max n=450 oyster measured/site). Quadrat location on Snook Island was noted as bottom, middle or top, as the oysters were attached to the limestone riprap at different heights.

Statistical Analysis:

Statistical analyses on monthly data sets were performed using SAS or Systat software. Measurements for each parameter were compared between sites using ANOVA or Robust ANOVA (to improve normality or homogeneity of ranked data) and means separated using Tukey's significant difference post-hoc test. All comparisons were considered significant if $P \le 0.05$.

RESULTS

Environmental Conditions

Temperature was similar at all sites, and followed the typical seasonal pattern in year one. Temperature ranges were more extreme in year two, with winter temperatures being atypically low for Florida. Water temperature ranged from 16.8-32.0°C in year one, and from 8.7-35.1°C in year two (Fig. 10). Air temperature generally followed water temperature.

Salinity varied greatly between sites, but was generally higher in winter and spring and lower in summer and fall at all sites (Fig. 11). Salinity was consistently higher at MacArthur and ranged from 25-36 ppt (Fig. 11). Salinity was extremely variable in the central LWL (7-35 ppt) and although both sites exhibited a similar pattern, salinities at Ibis Isle were lower than at Snook Island from summer to fall (Fig. 11).

Dissolved oxygen (D.O.) concentration was similar at all sites and ranged from 3.8-9.9 mg/L, although a range of 5-8 mg/L was typically seen (Fig. 12). Lower levels occurred in summer and fall corresponding with higher summer temperatures. The pH ranged from 7.8-8.5, but generally fell between 7.8 and 8.1 and did not vary between sites or seasons (Fig. 13). Water clarity, measured by Secchi disk, was extremely variable (Fig. 14). As sites were typically visited near low tide, Secchi disk depth reached total water depth at all sites, with the exception of Snook Island-Outer. Because most Secchi disk depth measurements were limited by the depth of the site, measurements were more an indication of water depth than clarity, with the exception of Snook Island-Outer where measurements were taken farther east of the island in deeper water and provided a more complete representation of water clarity at the site.



Figure 10. Water temperature at oyster monitoring sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010. *n.b.:* Only one water temperature was recorded at Snook Island in March 2008.



Figure 11. Salinity at oyster monitoring sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010. *nb:* Only one salinity was recorded at Snook Island in March 2008.



Figure 12. Dissolved oxygen (mg/L) at oyster monitoring sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010. *n.b.:* Only one dissolved oxygen reading was recorded at Snook Island in March 2008.



Figure 13. pH at oyster monitoring sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010. *n.b.:* No pH data was taken in March 2008. No pH data was taken at MacArthur in April 2008.



Figure 14. Water clarity by Secchi disk depth at oyster monitoring sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010. *n.b.*: No reading was taken in March 2008 and most readings were at maximum depth.

Oyster Survey

Surveys of adult oysters were conducted during the spring (April) and fall (October) of year one and year two. Every quadrat sampled at Ibis Isle contained oysters, while not all quadrats sampled at MacArthur or Snook Island contained oysters. Quadrat samples with no oysters (live or dead, herein referred to as "zeros") were not included in the statistical determination of average oyster density. Live oyster density was significantly greater at Ibis Isle in both years and in both seasons compared to MacArthur. Live oyster density was significantly greater at Ibis Isle compared to Snook Island in both seasons in year one (Fig. 15). There were no significant differences in oyster density between MacArthur and Snook Island.

There was an increase in average live oyster density from spring to fall in both years. The average live oyster density increase from spring to fall in year one of 62%, 94% and 4% at MacArthur, Ibis Isle and Snook Island, respectively, was not statistically significant (P=0.066). The average live oyster density increase from spring to fall in year two of 676%, 61% and 92% at MacArthur, Ibis Isle and Snook Island, respectively, was statistically significant (P=0.0002). The average density of dead oysters was greater than live oysters at MacArthur in year one and in the spring of year two (Fig. 15).

Average shell height of live oysters in both seasons of year one were significantly greater at MacArthur compared to both Ibis Isle and Snook Island (Fig. 16). Overall, average shell height of live oysters was greater in spring than fall in both years, although this difference was less apparent in year two than in year one.

Snook Island is the only site with any vertical height as it is a man-made rock barrier island that extends above the water surface even at high tide (Fig. 8C). With the exception of the fall of 2008, no oysters were present on the top most rock (Fig. 17). On the inner side of the island, oysters were found approximately 18cm from the top of the ridge, whereas on the outer side oysters were found approximately 10 cm below the ridge. At the base (48 cm below crest) of the riprap on the inner side of the island there were a considerable number of oysters (Fig. 9C), but on the outer side (71 cm below crest) fewer oysters were found. During surveys the location of the quadrat samples was noted (i.e., top = top of crest, middle = along incline, bottom = base at water's edge). Average live oyster density in the middle was twice as high as the bottom in the spring of year one, but not in the fall of year one or spring of year two. Density increased 3-4 times at both levels in the fall of 2009 (Fig. 17).



Figure 15. Mean $(\pm SE)$ oyster density from sampling sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from the 2008 and 2009 spring and fall surveys. *nb*.: Mac=MacArthur, II=Ibis Isle, SI= Snook Island. Mean densities were determined without the inclusion of zero quadrats.



Figure 16. Mean (<u>+</u>SE) oyster shell height from sampling sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from the 2008 and 2009 spring and fall surveys. *nb*.: Mac=MacArthur, II=Ibis Isle, SI= Snook Island.



Figure 17. Mean $(\pm SE)$ density of oysters at different heights on Snook Island riprap. Bottom is the base of the riprap, closest to water at low tide. Middle is between the bottom and top. Top is the crest, which is not covered by water, but crevices contain oysters.

Adult Oyster Samples

Condition Index

Mean shell height ranged from approximately 50 to 80 mm (Fig. 18), while whole weight ranged from approximately 30 to 50g (Fig. 19). Whole weight differences occurred less than height differences. Statistically significant differences in shell height were seen in 10 out of 24 months, with oysters from Ibis Isle generally exhibiting higher shell height. Statistically significant differences in whole weight occurred in 5 out of 24 months, with oysters from MacArthur generally having greater weight.

Condition index (CI) differed between sites both seasonally and annually. Oysters at Snook Island had the highest CI in year one, while oysters at MacArthur had the highest CI in year two (Fig. 20). CI was high at all sites during the winter in both years. Low CI's were seen in the spring of year one at both MacArthur and Snook Island. In contrast to year one, oysters at MacArthur had significantly higher CI's from August through December 2009 than the two central Lagoon sites.

Reproductive Stage

Reproduction varied between sites both seasonally and annually. In year one oysters at all sites exhibited a similar pattern of reproductive stage, with the exception of spring in which the mean reproductive stage of oysters at MacArthur significantly lagged behind those at the two central Lagoon sites (Figs. 21, 22, & 23). This same lag was not apparent in year two. Oysters in year one appeared to have a prolonged spawning period compared to year two as indicated by the proportion of oysters in the mature stage. Bi-modal reproduction was evident at all sites in year one with reproductive peaks occurring in both early summer and fall. Bi-modal peaks in year two were only evident at Snook Island with peaks occurring in both spring and fall. Reproductive activity deceased at all sites from December through February in both years as indicated by the lack of oysters in mature stage (Figs. 21, 22, & 23).

The sex of each sampled oyster was noted during reproductive staging (Fig 24). If sex could not be determined (stage 0-1), the oyster was noted as undifferentiated. The proportion of undifferentiated oysters (Fig. 25) followed the pattern of reproductive stage at each site (Figs. 21, 22, & 23). A greater preponderance of female (2-3x) compared to male oysters was found at all sites. As the number of oysters sampled for reproductive assessment at each site was small (n=5-6), the ratio of males to females on a monthly basis may not be indicative of the population. A greater number of oysters were undifferentiated at MacArthur compared to the other two sites, which corresponds to the fewer number of months that oysters at this site were reproductive (Figs. 21, 22, & 23).



Figure 18. Mean (±SE) shell height of oysters sampled from sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010. *n.b.* Snook Island is combined inner/outer.



Figure 19. Mean (±SE) whole weight of oysters sampled from sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010. *n.b.* Snook Island is combined inner/outer.



Figure 20. Mean (±SE) condition index of oysters sampled from sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010. *n.b.* Snook Island is combined inner/outer.



Figure 21. Reproductive stage frequency of oysters sampled from MacArthur site in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010.



Figure 22. Reproductive stage frequency of oysters sampled from Ibis Isle site in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010.



Figure 23. Reproductive stage frequency of oysters sampled from Snook Island site in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010.



Figure 24. Photomicrographs (40x) of stage 1-2 (early gametogenesis), 6-7(spawning) gonads from female (A,C) and male (B,D) oysters sampled from Lake Worth Lagoon.



Figure 25. Gender frequency of oysters sampled from MacArthur, Ibis Isle and Snook Island sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010. *n.b.* Snook Island is combined inner/outer.

Oyster Disease

Five to six oysters were sampled monthly at each site to determine the prevalence (i.e., proportion of oysters with the pathogen, irrespective of intensity) and intensity (i.e., amount of the pathogen in an oyster) of Dermo, MSX, and other parasites (e.g., helminthes and protozoans). Mean Dermo intensity ranged from 0-4.4 (Mackin scale) and was lowest in winter at all sites (Fig. 26). Intensity was high (>1.5) at all sites during the summer of year one, but only at MacArthur Park during the summer of year two. MacArthur Park oysters had a significantly higher intensity than oysters at the two central sites from July to September 2009. Annual average intensity was similar at MacArthur Park and Snook Island both years, but lower at Ibis Isle in year two.

Although intensity was generally low, prevalence was generally high (60-100%) except during the winter and early spring (Fig. 27). Snook Island exhibited the most variability and prevalence was slightly lower at this site both years.

MSX was not noted in oyster samples from any site. Numerous parasites were detected histologically including the gregarine protozoan *Nematopsis sp.*, turbellarians, the trematode *Bucephalus*, and the cestode *Tylocephalum*. Symbiotic parasites, such as the cnidarian *Eutima* and the pea crab *Pinnotheres*, were also present. Symbiotic pea crabs were infrequently found during preparation of oysters for condition index and histological analysis. In addition, one oyster sampled at MacArthur in April 2008 was infected with an ovacystis-like virus. In August 2009, 60% of the oysters at Ibis Isle and 20% of the oysters at Snook Island were noted to have a gut ciliate (*Ancistrocoma* sp.).

Nematopsis sp. oocysts were found in both oyster gill and mantle connective tissue in oysters examined at all sites with a prevalence range of 0-100% (Fig. 28). Prevalence was higher at all sites in year one (40-100%) than in year two (0-100%). Prevalence was similar at all sites in year one, but decreased at both MacArthur and Ibis Isles in year two. Intensity was usually low, though moderate and heavy intensities were seen in oysters at all sites: MacArthur in November 2008, May, April and June 2009, at Ibis Isle in July, August and November 2008, and March, April, May and June of 2009 and at Snook Island in June, July, September 2008 and February, April, May, June, November of 2009 and February of 2010. No immune response was evident, nor was there any other indication that the parasite negatively affected the infected oysters.

Sporocytes of the trematode *Bucephalus sp.* were intermittently found in gonadal tissue at low prevalence (0-20%) at all sites in year one; none were found in year two (Fig. 29). Intensities were typically low, although moderate infections were noted at Ibis Isles in November 2008 and Snook Island in January 2009.

Metacestodes of the genus *Tylocephalum* sp. were found localized to connective tissue near the digestive diverticulum with a prevalence range of 0-67% (Fig. 30). The parasites were absent at all sites in the fall of year one and in February, May and July of 2009. Intensities were low (1-3)

worms/oyster), except for April and December 2009, when moderate intensities (7 worms/oyster) were seen at Snook Island.

Turbellarian cestodes were found sporadically throughout both years, generally at low prevalence and at low intensities (1-3 worms/oyster) (Fig. 31). The parasite was absent at all sites from summer to fall in year one and in the fall of year two.

Hydrozoan polyps of *Eutima sp.* were found in histological sections of oyster gills with a prevalence range of 0-80% (Fig. 32). Hydrozoans were absent in oysters collected from the central Lagoon sites in the fall and winter of year one and the summer and fall of year two. Hydrozoans were less prevalent in year two than in year one at all sites.



Figure 26. Mean (±SE) Dermo (*Perkinsus* sp.) intensity in oysters sampled from sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010. *n.b.* Snook Island is combined inner/outer.



Figure 27. Dermo prevalence of oysters sampled from sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010. *n.b.* Snook Island is combined inner/outer.



Figure 28. *Nematopsis* sp. prevalence of oysters sampled from sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010. *n.b.* Snook Island is combined inner/outer.



Figure 29. *Bucephalus* sp. prevalence of oysters sampled from sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010. *n.b.* Snook Island is combined inner/outer.



Figure 30. *Tylocephalum* sp. prevalence of oysters sampled from sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010. *n.b.* Snook Island is combined inner/outer.



Figure 31. Turbellarian prevalence of oysters sampled from sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010. *n.b.* Snook Island is combined inner/outer.



Figure 32. *Eutima* sp. prevalence of oysters sampled from sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010. *n.b.* Snook Island is combined inner/outer.

Oyster Spat Recruitment

Spat collectors (n=36 shells total/site, Fig. 9) were placed at sites in March 2008 and thereafter retrieved and changed monthly. All sites had light to heavy barnacle recruitment on the shells (Fig. 33).

Oyster spat recruitment differed significantly at each site (Fig. 34). Recruitment at all sites was greatest from late spring/early summer through fall in both years and absent in winter. Recruitment was lowest at MacArthur. Total recruitment for year one at MacArthur averaged 0.7 spat/shell and for year two 1.1 spat/shell. Peak recruitment in year one occurred in September and in year two in June.

Oyster spat recruitment at Ibis Isle was also low, although higher than at MacArthur. Total recruitment for year one averaged 4.9 spat/shell and decreased slightly in year two to 3.2 spat/shell. Peak recruitment occurred in the fall in both years.

Oyster recruitment at Snook Island-Inner and Snook Island-Outer were similar in pattern in 2008, but differed in total number with Snook Island-Inner typically having the higher recruitment. Recruitment at Snook Island appeared to be bi-modal at both inner and outer sites in year one, but only for the inner site in year two. Total average recruitment at Snook Island-Inner was lower in year one (10 spat/shell) than in year two (18.1 spat/shell). Peak recruitment occurred in June and again in August remaining high through October. Peak recruitments in year two occurred in May and again in October.

Total oyster recruitment at Snook Island-Outer was similar in year one (avg. 7.0 spat/shell) and year two (avg. 8.5 spat/shell). Peak recruitment in year one occurred in June 2008, and again in September. Peak recruitment in year two occurred in October 2009, which coincided with the second peak recruitment event at Snook Island-Inner.



Figure 33. Oyster spat (arrow, left shell) and barnacles (right shell) on spat collector shells from Ibis Isle site of Lake Worth Lagoon in June 2008.



Figure 34. Mean (\pm SE) number of oyster spat/shell from sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008-February 2010. *n.b.*: In March 2008 there was no data as spat collectors were initially placed in the water that month. The number of spat/shell was >45 in May and October of 2009 and is indicated by written notation (including SE) adjacent to the bar.

Juvenile Oyster Growth

Shell arrays (25 oyster shells attached to a piece of wire mesh and raised about 10 cm off bottom) were anchored in place at each site in year one in April 2008 and in year two in March 2009 (Fig. 9). Shell arrays were examined monthly and the shell height of 30 random oyster recruits (or all oysters if less than 30) were measured (Fig. 35).

Significant differences were observed between sites in all months in year one, two months after arrays were deployed, and one month after arrays were deployed in year two (Fig. 36). Average growth, as measured by shell height varied more in year one than in year two, and a decrease in growth from year one to year two was seen at MacArthur and Ibis Isle. Newly recruited oysters showed the greatest growth in year one at Ibis Isle and slowest growth at Snook Island-Outer. Juvenile oysters at MacArthur and Ibis Isle were significantly larger than at Snook Island-Outer. Juvenile oysters at MacArthur and Ibis Isle were significantly larger than at Snook Island-Outer from August 2008 until February 2009 and oysters at Ibis Isle were significantly larger than those at MacArthur from December 2008 to January 2009. The array at Snook Island-Outer was removed and replaced in September 2008 which led to the decision not to include Snook Island-Outer array through-out year one. No data was taken in June 2008 due to an approaching lightening storm. Encrusting algae covered the array in September 2008 killing all the oysters. In December of 2008 the array was found 10 m from its normal location, but still upright. No live oysters were found in February 2009.

Overgrowth and predation were problems at both MacArthur and Snook Island. In October 2008 at MacArthur the shell array was covered with the green algae *Caulerpa sertularioides* and in November with the orange tunicate *Ecteinascidia turbinata*, as well as barnacles. At Snook Island-Inner in October 2008, a heavy set of oyster spat was noted on the underside of the array. In November 2008, the Snook Island-Inner array was found overturned and buried in the mud. In December 2008 a heavy infestation of oyster drills (Fig. 37) was noted on the Snook Island-Inner array oysters, along with many dead oysters showing a single drill hole.

In March 2009, the array at each site was removed and replaced with a new array. The shells on the arrays had noticeable new oyster spat at Snook Island in April, at Ibis Isle in May, and at MacArthur in June 2008. Although oysters at MacArthur set and grew slower than those at the two central Lagoon sites, the average annual growth at all sites in year two was remarkably similar, except for Snook Island-Outer in year two. Oysters at Snook Island-Outer were significantly smaller compared to the other sites from November 2008 through February 2010.



Figure 35. Oyster spat (arrow) being measured on shell array at Ibis Isle.



Figure 36. Mean (±SE) shell height of juvenile oysters on shell arrays from all sites in Lake Worth Lagoon from March 2008- February 2010.



Figure 37. Oyster drills *Urosalpinx* sp. or *Eupleura* sp. (on ruler) and their eggs cases (white arrows) on oyster shell array at Snook Island-Inner in December 2008.

DISCUSSION

This study monitored Eastern oysters (*Crassostrea virginica*) at three sites within the Lake Worth Lagoon (LWL) estuary over a two-year period (March 2008-February 2010). Located in Palm Beach County, Florida the LWL is an estuarine habitat approximately 34 km in length (1165 sq km watershed) influenced by human activities and canal drainage. Sites monitored in this study were located at both the northern (John D. MacArthur State Recreation Area) and central (Ibis Isle, Snook Islands) portions of the Lagoon and included both natural oyster beds (MacArthur and Ibis Isle) and an environmental enhancement area (Snook Islands). The primary objectives of this study were to determine recruitment, survival, growth, reproduction, condition index, and health status of established oysters at these locations. The present study complements studies performed between 2005-2009 at natural oyster beds within the LWL estuary (Arnold et al. 2008, Parker and Geiger 2009, Volety 2010)

Environmental Conditions

Environmental parameters were generally similar between sites for the entire monitoring period and fell within ranges reported to be tolerant by Eastern oysters (Shumway 1996). As parameters were measured on a monthly basis this sampling scheme provides only a seasonal picture, and does not reflect daily variations that occur. With the exception of an extreme and prolonged period of lower than normal temperatures that occurred throughout South Florida in January of 2010 (9°C) water temperatures in this study (17-35°C) were comparable to ranges reported in previous studies (Arnold et al. 2008, Geiger and Parker 2009, Volety 2009). Air temperatures followed a similar pattern to water temperature. Although Eastern oysters may survive extreme temperatures, the rate of temperature change directly affects survival (Shumway 1996). The optimum salinity range for the Eastern oyster is 14-28 ppt (Shumway 1996). Oysters within the two central sites were subjected to large variations in salinity (7-35 ppt) due to freshwater releases from the C-51 canal, while those within the northern LWL were higher and less variable (25-35 ppt). Tropical Storm Fay and freshwater releases combined to depress salinities in the central LWL during the fall of year one, while rainfall and freshwater releases depressed salinities in the area throughout the entire summer of year two. Although oysters can survive a salinity of 5 ppt for extended periods (Shumway 1996), combinations of high temperature (>25 °C) and very low salinities (<5 ppt), which can occur in Florida estuaries during the tropical storm season, are known to affect overall health and survival of oysters (Heilmayer et al. 2008).

Dissolved oxygen (D.O.) levels were within acceptable ranges (4-10), typically lower in the summer and higher in the winter. The pH of the water was usually near or slightly lower (7.8-8.0) than that of seawater (8.2), and was generally lower during the summer, particularly at Ibis Isle, which coincides with lowered salinity. The large difference between the May 2008 sample (pH of 8.3-8.4) and the remaining sampling periods (pH of 7.8-8.1) is likely the result of an incorrect pH meter calibration. Secchi disk measurements for this study did not adequately represent water clarity as the sites were visited near low tide and measurements were usually limited by water depth. Ibis Isle has an extremely silty bottom that is easily resuspended during tidal changes. The Snook Island-Inner site is similarly shallow and affected by silt resuspension. Snook Island-Outer was the only site not limited by water depth. Establishing water clarity by Secchi disk may be of limited value and is more a comment on the condition of bottom sediments than on nutrient availability.

Adult Surveys

The oyster bed at MacArthur had the lowest oyster density in spring and fall of both years, whereas the oyster bed at Ibis Isle had the highest density. Increases in density from spring to fall were seen at all sites with the exception of Snook Island in year one. This increase is expected based on recruitment that takes place in the LWL from spring to fall. Similar densities and seasonal patterns have been reported previously for LWL sites (Arnold et al. 2008, Parker and Geiger 2009, Volety 2010). In contrast to oysters on the east coast, Volety (2010) reported high densities for sites located within the Caloosahatchee (100-1500/m²) with peak densities occurring in fall rather than spring.

Differences in density among the sites sampled in the study may be due to a number of factors including temperature, salinity, disease, predation and recruitment. The lack of increase in density from spring to fall in year one at Snook Island was likely due to predation as recruitment was similar in both years. A large number of oyster drills were noted on Snook Island arrays in the fall of 2008. The greatest increase in density at Snook Island occurred at the base of the riprap. Temperature may have been a factor affecting vertical distribution as oyster density remained the same from spring to fall at the base of the riprap but actually decreased in the middle. Decreased Dermo pressure in the fall due to low summer salinities in the central LWL may also have played a role in increased fall densities at those sites. On the other hand, a prolonged decrease in salinity as seen in year two at Ibis Isle may have negatively impacted density by impacting recruitment. Ibis Isle may also have encountered changes in hydrology,

water quality or nutrient availability in year two due to restoration efforts which may have had a temporary negative impact on that site in terms of recruitment and density. The dramatic increase seen at MacArthur in year two did not appear to be the result of increased recruitment or measured environmental changes, but could be the result of increased nutrient availability or increased survival. This increased survival is reflected in the decrease in average shell height of oysters at all sites in year two compared to the previous year. The occurrence of overset (i.e., oyster spat settling upon earlier settled oysters) will reduce observed growth as average shell height does not change. A seasonal decrease in shell height concurrent with an increase in density from spring to fall in the LWL was likewise reported by Arnold et al. (2008) and Parker and Geiger (2009).

Adult Monitoring

Condition Index

None of the sites exhibited a consistently higher condition index (CI) than any other. The annual condition index was highest for Snook Island in year one and highest for MacArthur in year two. The CI at Snook Island was significantly higher in both the spring and fall of year one and at MacArthur from August through December of year two. Oyster morphology varies greatly depending on substrate and habitat condition. Mean shell height and weight varied from month to month at all three sites. Shell height was significantly different between sites in 10 of 24 months and oysters at Ibis Isle were more likely to have higher shell height. Weight was significantly different in 5 of 24 months and Snook Island oysters were most often heavier. This is representative of the substrate differences that exist at the three sites. Oysters that grow on muddy substrates, such as found at Ibis Isle, tend to be long and narrow while oysters adhering to hard substrate like rock or hard bottom, such as found at Snook Island, tend to be rounded.

Condition index is typically described as being high in the spring and declining later in the season as energy reserves are transferred into gamete production. Although this holds true of ovster reefs in the St. Lucie estuary and the Loxahatchee on Florida's east coast (Arnold et al. 2008, Parker and Geiger 2009, Volety 2010) as well as the Caloosahatchee on Florida's west coast (Volety 2010), oyster reefs in the LWL are atypical in having a relatively high condition index from spring through fall. In this study, variability was seen between both sites and years. Oysters at MacArthur had CI peaks in the summer and fall of both years. Ibis Isle had CI peaks in summer and fall in year one, but only in the spring of year two. Snook Island had CI peaks in the spring and fall in year one, and followed the same pattern as Ibis Isle in year two. Arnold (et al. 2008) reported two condition index peaks in the LWL, one in April and another in June. Parker and Geiger (2009) reported variability in condition index through-out the year in the LWL. Volety (2010) reported highest condition indexes in LWL during the summer. These results suggest that stress was generally low enough and/or nutrients generally high enough to support both growth and reproduction throughout the year. The CI at MacArthur was significantly higher in year two compared to the central sites from August through December. Both central sites were subjected to salinity stress in the summer of year two, which may have negatively depressed condition index at these sites. Restoration at Ibis Isle was occurring concurrently and may have further added to stress at that site during that time.

Reproduction

Reproductive activity occurred continuously at all sites from spring to fall, although reproductive peaks varied depending on location. Spawning (stages 5-8) was spread out over a longer period in year one and peaks were not as evident as in year two, although peaks generally occurred in either April or June and again in September. Prolonged reproductive activity (April to September) and year to year variability are common in the LWL (Arnold et al. 2008, Parker and Geiger 2009 and Volety 2010). Although oysters at MacArthur were in significant better physiological condition than those in the central Lagoon sites in year two, this did not translate to greater reproductive output. As CI decreased in the central Lagoon during the summer of year two so did reproductive activity. Recruitment followed the same pattern as reproductive activity in year two and was concentrated in the fall. A greater proportion of sampled adult oysters were female rather than male, especially those sampled during spawning season and more so at the central sites than at MacArthur. Oysters are protrandric, which results in larger oysters tending to be female (Thompson et al. 1996). This skewed male to female ratio is likely the effect of sampling adult oysters larger than 51 cm rather than a reflection on the gender ratio in the environment and was also reported by Parker and Geiger (2009). Two hermaphrodites have been found at Ibis Isle (June 2008, October 2009) among all sampled oysters (n=330, 0.61%), which falls within ranges reported (Thompson et al. 1996).

Disease

The most prevalent oyster disease in Florida is Dermo, a haplosporidian endoparasite (Perkinsus marinus), associated with warm and salty environments that results in death of infected oysters two years later (Ford and Tripp 1996). Dermo disease was prevalent at all sites year round, though variability was evident between sites, seasons, and years. Intensities generally followed prevalence. Lowered prevalence and intensity occurred concurrent with lowered winter temperatures. As temperature was similar at all sites, salinity contributed to the variability seen between sites. Ibis Isle and Snook Island experienced a more variable salinity than MacArthur and consequently a lower prevalence and intensity of Dermo, especially following prolonged periods of lowered salinity occurred during the summer of year two. Annual intensity and prevalence were highest at MacArthur and lowest at Snook Island. Although monthly variations were was seen, neither site experienced annual variation. Annual prevalence and intensity was lower at Ibis Isle in year two due to the extended period of low salinity that occurred that summer. Similar monthly and yearly variations related to temperature and salinity have been reported previously in the LWL (Arnold et al. 2008, Parker and Geiger 2009, Volety 2010). Mean Dermo disease prevalence and intensity are higher on the west coast of Florida than the east coast due to higher average annual salinities (Volety 2010). Higher levels of intensity were reported in this study than in previous studies. The disparity between data reported in this study and that reported by Arnold et al. (2008) and Volety (2010) may be explained by their averaging of sites and years, however Parker and Geiger (2009) did not report densities as high as were seen in the present study, and their data was not averaged across sites or years.

MSX (*Haplosporidum nelsoni*) was not noted in samples from any site. The range of MSX has been reported to extend from Maine to Florida (Hillman et al. 1988, Burreson and Ford 2004,

Ulrich et al. 2007). Although Ulrich et al. (2007) reported MSX in samples from the Gulf Coast of Florida, the report was based on polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assays and no MSX organisms were verified in histological sections. There are no other reports of MSX positive samples from Florida (Arnold et al. 2008, Parker and Geiger 2009, Volety 2010).

Neither Arnold et al. (2008) nor Parker and Geiger (2009) examined oysters for any parasites except Dermo and MSX and therefore no baseline data exists for other oyster parasites in the LWL. However, Winstead et al (2004) reported various parasites from natural oyster populations in the Gulf of Mexico. In addition to Dermo, parasites detected in this study included the gregarine protozoan *Nematopsis sp.*, turbellarians, the trematode *Bucephalus*, and the cestode *Tylocephalum*. Mollusks are intermediate hosts for most of these species. No one site exhibited a greater prevalence or intensity of these parasites than another.

Crustaceans are the definitive host for *Nematopsis sp.* and are common in oysters in the southeastern U.S. and Gulf of Mexico (Lauckner 1983, Kim et al. 1998). Crabs were typically encountered at all sites sampled. Annual prevalence was similar to the higher values reported by Winstead et al. (2004) in the Gulf of Mexico and higher than that reported by Scarpa et al. (2009) for a one-time examination in oysters in land-based tanks receiving water from the Indian River Lagoon. A lower prevalence of *Nematopsis sp.* was seen at Ibis Isle and Snook Island concurrent with periods of lowered salinity in accordance with results reported by Tuntiwaranuruk et al. (2008). Intensity, categorized as low, moderate or high was usually low and did not correspond to salinity values. As reported by Winstead et al. (2004) there was no immune response to indicate that the parasite negatively affected the infected oysters.

Fish are the definitive host for trematodes such as *Bucephalus* which affects oysters by destroying the gonads and eventually causing mortality (Lauckner 1983). Sporocytes of the trematode *Bucephalus sp.* were intermittently found, generally at low prevalence, in gonadal tissue at all three sites. Winstead et al. (2004) and Scarpa et al. (2009) reported similar low prevalence in the Gulf of Mexico and the Indian River Lagoon. There was no evidence of a correlation between low salinity and increased *Bucephalus* infection as reported by Winstead et al. (2004). The parasite was absent in year two, in which the central sites in particular experienced a prolonged period of lowered salinity. Another explanation for the absence of this parasite in year two might be the absence of the definitive (true gar, *Lepisosteus*) and second intermediate hosts (mullet, *Mugil cephalus*).

Elasmobranches are the final hosts for the metacestode *Tylocephalum* (Lauckner 1983). *Tylocephalum* sp. was found at all sites with an average annual prevalence similar to that reported by Winstead (et al. 2004) in the Gulf of Mexico. Intensities were generally low although two instances of moderate intensities were seen at Snook Island. Infection typically caused a severe host response as has been reported by other researchers (Lauckner et al. 1983, Winstead et al. 2004).

Invertebrates are typically the final hosts for the flatworm turbellarians (Shinn 1985). Turbellarians were found sporadically at all sites in both years. Prevalence was consistent with that reported by Winstead et al. (2004) in the Gulf of Mexico.

Symbiotic parasites, such as the cnidarian *Eutima* and the pea crab *Pinnotheres*, were also present. Symbiotic pea crabs (*Pinnotheres sp.*) were infrequently found during preparation of oysters for condition index and histological analysis. Hydrozoan polyps of *Eutima sp.* were found in histological sections of oyster gills. Warm water hydrozoan polyps of the genus *Eutima* have been previously reported in the southern Atlantic and Gulf coasts of Florida (Mulholland and Fredl 1996). Prevalence appeared to follow a seasonal pattern and was greatest from spring through summer, disappearing at all sides in the fall and at all sites but MacArthur in the winter. A decreased prevalence was seen in year two, although the seasonal pattern was the same. Similar seasonal prevalence was reported by Winstead et al. (2004) in the Gulf of Mexico and Scarpa et al. (2009) in the Indian River Lagoon. Intensities were typically low.

One oyster sampled at MacArthur in April 2008 was infected with an ovacystis-like virus. This virus has previously been reported in Florida in the Gulf of Mexico at low (<1%) prevalence (Winstead and Courtney 2003, Winstead et al. 2004). In August of 2009, a high prevalence and intensity of a gill ciliate (*Ancistrocoma* sp.) was detected in the digestive tract of oysters at Ibis Isle, while a lower prevalence and intensity was detected in oysters at Snook Island. Hemocytic response was evident in the more heavily infected oysters. Considered an opportunistic pathogen, this gill ciliate can invade the host tissue during periods of abnormal physiological stress (Lauckner 1983). It is postulated that lowered salinities coupled with the movement of sediment during the restoration project may have temporarily added additional stress to oysters in the central Lagoon, causing host tissue to be invaded during that time. Oysters quickly recovered and the parasite disappeared once salinities increased, temperatures decreased, and the capping of muck was completed.

Multiple parasites were found at all sites and many oysters in the study had multiple parasitic infections. Multiple parasitic infections in oysters are indicative of a healthy ecosystem that supports a diverse assortment of other species as oysters are typically the intermediate hosts for parasites with final hosts being crustaceans, fish or birds.

Larval Recruitment

Recruitment occurred at all sites spring through fall, but the level varied significantly depending on the site. Recruitment was constant and low at MacArthur, while major peaks occurred in the fall in the central Lagoon. Two periods of peak recruitment were seen at Snook Island; summer and fall in year one and spring and fall in year two. Recruitment from summer through fall, with peaks in the fall, appears to be the normal pattern in the central Lagoon (Arnold et al. 2008, Parker and Geiger 2009). A similar two-peak pattern, as was seen at Snook Island, has been reported for the Loxahatchee area (Parker and Geiger 2009). In contrast, recruitment in the St. Lucie Estuary occurs earlier than in the LWL (Parker and Geiger 2009). Oyster reefs on the west coast report a similar spring through fall recruitment with peaks in summer or fall (Volety 2010). A relationship appears to exist between adult density and recruitment. Lowest recruitment was seen at MacArthur, which also had the lowest adult density. Whether this has to do with environmental conditions or nutrient availability in the northern LWL is unclear. It is not certain that recruits necessarily remain in the same area in which they are spawned. Oyster recruits have little control over their own fate and dispersal is strongly dependant on currents and flushing rates of the estuary (Andrews 1983). Oyster larvae have been documented to travel at least 30 miles (Bahr and Lanier 1981). Ibis Isle had a greater adult density than Snook Island but had fewer recruits and exhibited peak recruitment only in the fall. As these two central sites are subject to similar environmental conditions, other factors beyond the scope of this monitoring study, such as hydrodynamics, may play a crucial role in recruitment. Additional loss of early spat may be caused by predators (e.g., oyster drills and crabs).

Juvenile Growth

Growth of newly settled oysters varied between locations and over time. Shell height was greater in year one than in year two at MacArthur and Ibis Isle, but not at Snook Island. Growth was consistently lower at Snook Island-Outer than at the other sites. Several factors, including heavy predation by oyster drills in year one and excessive recruitment, may explain lower growth at this site. Snook Island was the only site with two recruitment peaks. The overlay of new spat settling on arrays may have had the effect of decreasing the overall mean shell height. More fouling was typically seen on the array at Snook Island-Outer and the array was often moved about due to the boat wave action at that location. No ready explanation exists to why juvenile oysters had less growth in year two than in year one at MacArthur and Ibis Isle as northern and central sites were subjected to different environmental pressures (i.e. salinity) and presumably to different nutrient inputs, although the low January temperatures could have been a factor. Still growth rates reported in this study are comparable to previous monitoring efforts in LWL (Arnold et al. 2008, Parker and Geiger 2009, Volety 2010). Consistent with the present study, Parker and Geiger (2009) reported variation in both recruitment and shell height between three central LWL sites. Arnold et al. (2008) reported average means from all three LWL sites therefore no variation can be seen between sites, however variation was seen from year to year. All researchers reported less growth in LWL than in the St. Lucie Estuary or in the Loxahatchee area (Arnold et al. 2008, Parker and Geiger 2009, Volety 2010). Parker and Geiger (2009) postulated that the greater recruitment at LWL may have decreased the mean shell height. Oysters exhibit greater growth on the west coast of Florida than on the east coast (Volety 2010). At sites along the Caloosahatchee, greater growth occurred in oysters deployed after low salinity events which Volety (2010) attributed to decreased disease and predator pressure. Salinity did not appear to be a factor in juvenile growth in this study, as the mean shell height at MacArthur was greater than or equal to that of oysters at the less saline, central LWL sites.

CONCLUSIONS

This report summarizes two years of monitoring efforts at three distinct oyster reefs in Lake Worth Lagoon: two natural and one artificial, in two distinct locations, north and central, and subject to different salinity pressures. Productivity of monitored oyster beds in this study is consistent with data from previous monitoring studies in the LWL (Arnold et al. 2008, Parker and Geiger 2009, Volety 2010). The LWL is as productive (Loxahatchee area, Mosquito Lagoon, Sebastian River) or more productive (St. Lucie Estuary, Biscayne Bay) than other oyster reefs on Florida's east coast (Arnold et al. 2008, Parker and Geiger 2009). Oyster densities on Florida's west coast (Caloosahatchee River) are much higher than all east coast sites, including

the LWL (Volety 2010). Oyster reefs in the Caloosahatchee River had about five times greater recruitment and twice the intensity of Dermo disease compared to east coast sites (Volety 2010). In all other parameters measured (i.e., reproductive activity, juvenile growth, and condition index) LWL oysters are comparable to those of other Florida east and west coast oysters within year-to-year variability. Based on these studies further oyster reef restoration projects within LWL should be successful whether projects considered are large, such as the Snook Island project, or small in scope, such as envisioned in Living Shoreline projects.

All three sites monitored over the past two years have healthy oysters present. Although the natural oyster bed at MacArthur is subjected to less salinity pressure it had the lowest density and recruitment. Still, oysters at MacArthur had as high or higher CI and juvenile growth than oysters in the central Lagoon. Low density at this site may be due to increased disease pressure (Dermo), lack of substrate, poor nutrient availability, predation (crabs and oyster drills were often seen at this area) or poaching (an ongoing problem cited by park rangers). This lowered density likely impacted recruitment, which could additionally be impacted by lack of substrate, poor nutrient availability, or hydrology. Currents run on either side of this island and may carry recruits and nutrients away from the monitored site.

The natural oyster beds at Ibis Isle had the highest density and single-month recruitment, but the site is substrate limited. The edge of the Ibis Isle oyster beds transition to soft mud and muck in which the shells sink, decreasing the availability of old shell as substrate for new recruits. Ibis Isle may likewise be impacted by hydrology caused by the narrow channel under the bridge, south of the beds, which may limit water flow. Capping of muck, such as was done at Snook Island and restoring flow under the bridge may enhance the area.

The artificially constructed Snook Island environmental enhancement area had the highest annual recruitment (twice that of Ibis Isle and ten times that of MacArthur), but oyster density was only one-fifth to three-quarters that of Ibis Isle though twice as high as at MacArthur. The rock substrate may be at its maximum density or other factors (e.g., wave action, competition, or predation) might be limiting settlement and growth of oysters at this site. Wave action from boat traffic over the two-year monitoring period appeared to have worn the rock substrate down, particularly on the outer side. As islands with more vegetation were not monitored it is unclear whether vegetation may have protected those sites from wave action to some extent. Although no oysters grew on the top of the vertical structure, it is recommended that the height not be decreased due to the eventual wear and movement of rock at the base of the Island

While fresh water input may have helped to decrease disease (Dermo) pressure, it also adversely affected the condition index in both central sites and perhaps recruitment at Ibis Isle, which is closer to the source of the release. The amount of man-made fresh water input needs to be considered when determining placement of restoration projects.

Lake Worth Lagoon is a productive system with patches of healthy oyster beds that provide the recruitment necessary to seed large (Snook Island) and small restoration projects, as long as other environmental factors (salinity, hydrology, food availability) and substrate type (hard bottom versus mud) are considered.

SUMMARY CONCLUSIONS

- Oyster density was greatest at Ibis Isle and lowest at MacArthur
- Condition index was highest at Snook Island in year one and at MacArthur in year two
- Reproductive activity was higher at both Ibis Isle and Snook Island than at MacArthur
- Dermo disease prevalence and intensity was highest at MacArthur and lowest at Snook Island
- Larval recruitment was greatest at Snook Island and lowest at MacArthur
- Juvenile growth was greater at MacArthur and Ibis Isle in year one than at Snook Island-Inner; all sites were similar in year two
- Juveniles grew slower at Snook-Island Outer than at the other sites in both years.
- Oyster reefs in Lake Worth Lagoon are as productive or more productive than oyster reefs in other east Florida locales
- Annual variation in oyster productivity may be the result of natural variations in environmental parameters (temperature, salinity, nutrient availability), man-made (fresh-water releases) or a combination of the two.
- Central Lagoon sites appear to be more productive than northern Lagoon sites despite the additional fresh-water input
- Created oyster reefs as exemplified by Snook Island are as productive as natural reefs
- Productivity may be enhanced by carefully considering placement of created reefs in relation to natural oyster beds

RECOMMENDATIONS

- Additional oyster restoration projects are recommended for the central LWL
- The construction of additional artificial reefs, similar to that created at Snook Island are recommended
- Improving, maintaining and increasing successful natural reefs, similar to the Ibis Isle restoration project, are recommended
- Due to year-to-year fluctuations seen, multi-year monitoring is recommended at potential sites
- Additional monitoring of sites after restoration projects have been completed in the area (such as at Ibis Isle) are recommended to see the impact of those restoration projects
- Encouraging student and community volunteers to participate in restoration and monitoring projects under the direction of a biologist
- Implementation of smaller volunteer projects such as Living Shorelines and monitoring of those projects in conjunction with homeowners, student and community volunteers under the direction of a biologist
- Monitoring multiple sites within sites
 - Monitoring other islands in the Snook Island Restoration Area to see if similar results would have been obtained at sites with similar vertical distribution, but with more vegetation or northern, middle and southern sampling sites
 - $\circ~$ Monitoring additional northern sites, for example one natural, such as MacArthur and one artificial
- Increased sample size 20 per site (10 for CI, 10 for reproduction/disease) increases variability seen
- More frequent surveys four times per year rather than two

REFERENCES

Andrews, J. D. 1983. Transport of bivalve larvae in James River, Virginia. Journal of Shellfish Research. 3(1): 29-40.

Arnold, W.S., M.L. Parker and S.P. Stephenson. 2008. Oyster Monitoring in the Northern Estuaries. Final Report for grant #CP040614 to South Florida Water Management District, FL. 156 pp.

Bahr, L. M. and W. P. Lanier. 1981. The ecology of intertidal oyster reefs of the South Atlantic Coast: a community profile. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Office of Biological Services, Washington, D.C. FWS/OBS -81/15,105 pp.

Barber, B.J., 1996. Gametogenesis of eastern oysters, *Crassostrea virginica* (Gmelin, 1791) and Pacific oysters, *Crassostrea gigas* (Thunberg, 1793) in disease-endemic lower Chesapeake Bay. J. Shellfish Res., 15: 285-290.

Beck, M.W., R.D. Brumbaugh, L. Airoldi, A. Carranza, L.D. Coen, C. Crawford, O. Defeo, G.J. Edgar, B. Hancock, M. Kay, H. Lenihan, M.W. Luckenbach, C.L. Toropova and G. Zhang. 2009. Shellfish Reefs at Risk: A Global Analysis of Problems and Solutions. The Nature Conservancy, Arlington, VA, USA. 52 pp.

Burreson, E.M. and S.E. Ford. 2004. A review of recent information on the Haplosporidia, with special reference to *Haplosporidium nelsoni* (MSX disease). Aquat. Living Resour., 17: 499-517.

Bushek, D., S.E. Ford and S.K. Allen, 1994. Evaluation of methods using Ray's fluid thioglycollate medium for diagnosis of *Perkinsus marinus* infection in the eastern oyster, *Crassostrea virginica*. Ann. Rev. Fish Diseases, 4: 201-217.

Carson, D.C. 2007. Radical damage calls for radical remediation: The Snook Islands Environmental Enhancement Project, Palm Beach County, Florida. www.pbcgov.com/erm/lwlsymposium/pdfs/post/Symposium_Abstract_Book.pdf

Carriker, M.R. and P.M. Gaffney. 1996. A catalogue of selected species of living oysters (Ostreacea) of the world, pp 1-18. <u>In</u>: Kennedy, V.S., Newell, R.I.E. and Eble, A.F. (eds), The Eastern Oyster *Crassostrea virginica*. Maryland Sea Grant Book, College Park, MD, 734 pp.

Coen, L.D. and R.E. Grizzle. 2007. The Importance of Habitat Created by Molluscan Shellfish to Manage Species along the Atlantic coast of the United States. Atlantic States Marine Fisheries Commission (ASMFC) Habitat Management Series #8, Washington, DC, 108 pp.

Coen, L.D., M.W. Luckenbach and D.L. Breitburg. 1999. The role of oyster reefs as essential fish habitat: a review of current knowledge and some new perspectives, pp. 438-454. In: L.R.

Benaka, (ed.). Fish habitat: essential fish habitat and rehabilitation. American Fisheries Society, Symposium 22, Bethesda, MD.

Fisher, W. S., J. T. Winstead, L. M. Oliver, H. L. Adminston and G. O. Bailey, 1996. Physiological variability of eastern oysters from Appalachicola Bay, Florida. J. Shellfish Res., 15: 543-555.

Fleming, L.C. 1986. Occurrence of symbiotic turbellarians in the oyster *Crassostrea virginica*. Hydrobiologia, 132: 311-315.

Ford, S.E. and M.R. Tripp. 1996. Diseases and Defense Mechanisms, pp 581-660. <u>In</u>: Kennedy, V.S., Newell, R.I.E. and Eble, A.F. (eds), The Eastern Oyster *Crassostrea virginica*. Maryland Sea Grant Book, College Park, MD, 734 pp.

Heilmayer, O., J. Digialleonardo, L. Qian and G. Roesijadi. 2008. Stress tolerance of a subtropical *Crassostrea virginica* population to the combined effects of temperature and salinity. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 79:179-185.

Hillman, R.E., P.D. Boehm and S.Y. Frietas. 1988. A pathology potpourri from the NOAA mussel watch program. J. Shellfish Res., 7: 216-217.

Kim Y., E.N. Power, T.L. Wad, B.L. Presley and J. Sericano. 1998. Parasites of sentinel bivalves in the NOAA Status and Trends program: distribution and relationship to contaminant body burden. Mar. Pollut. Bull., 37:45-55.

Lauckner, G. 1983. Diseases of Mollusca: Bivalvia, pp. 477-879, In: Kinne (ed.), Diseases of Marine Animals, Vol. 2, Introduction: Bivalvia to Scaphopoda. Chichester, New York, Birsbane, and Toronto: John Wiley and Sons.

Miller, A.W., A.C. Reynolds, C. Sobrino and G.F. Riedel. 2009. Shellfish face uncertain future in high CO_2 world: Influence of acidification on oyster larvae calcification and growth in estuaries. PLoS ONE, 4(5): e5661. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005661.

Mulholland, D.S. and F. Feredl. 1996. Distribution and population dynamics of a hydrozoan inquiline symbiont of the eastern oyster. J. Shellfish Res., 15: 496-497.

Newell, R. 1988. Ecological changes in Chesapeake Bay: Are they the result of overharvesting the American oyster, *Crassostrea virginica*? In Proceedings of a Conference, Understanding the Estuary: Advances in Chesapeake Bay Research, pp. 536-546. Chesapeake Research Consortium Publication 129. Baltimore, MD.

Parker, M. and S. Geiger. 2009. Oyster Monitoring in the Northern Estuaries on the Southeast Coast of Florida. Annual Report to South Florida Water Management District, Contract Number: 4600001084, File Code: F2724-08-A1.

Scarpa J., Laramore S., Newell E., and C. Dungan. 2009. Growth and Reproduction of the Suminoe Oyster in a U.S. Sub-Tropical Environment: EIS Ramifications? Final Report for NOAA-funded project NA06NMF4570245. 32 pp.

Shinn, GL. 1985. Infection of new hosts by *Anplodium hymanae*, a tubellarian flatworm (Neorhabdecoela, Umigillidae) inhabiting the coelom of the sea cucumber *Stichopus californicus*. Biological Bulletin 169: 199-214.

Shumway, S. 1996. Natural Environmental Factors, pp 467-513, <u>In</u>: Kennedy, V.S., Newell, R.I.E. and Eble, A.F. (eds), The Eastern Oyster *Crassostrea virginica*. Maryland Sea Grant Book, College Park, MD, 734 pp.

Thompson, R.J., R.I.E. Newell, V.S. Kennedy and R. Mann. 1996. Reproductive Processes and Early Development, pp. 335-370. <u>In</u>: Kennedy, V.S., Newell, R.I.E. and Eble, A.F. (eds), The Eastern Oyster *Crassostrea virginica*. Maryland Sea Grant Book, College Park, MD, 734 pp.

Tuntiwaranurk C., K. Chalermwat, V. Pongsakchat, A. Meepool, E.S. Upatham and M. Kruatrachu. 2008. Infection of *Nematopsis* oocysts in different size classes of farmed mussel *Perna viridis* in Thailand. Aquaculture, 281: 12-16.

Ulrich, P.N., C.M. Colton, C.A. Hoover, P.M. Gaffney and A.G. Marsh. 2007. *Haplosporidium nelsoni* (MSX) rDNA detected in oysters from the Gulf of Mexico and the Caribbean Sea. J. Shellfish Res., 26: 195-199.

Volety, A. 2009. Oyster Monitoring Report, Draft. South Florida Water Management District. 27 pp.

Volety, A. 2010. RECOVER. In Prep 2009 System Status Report. Restoration Coordination and Verification Program c/o United States Army Corps of Engineers, Jacksonville, FL and South Florida Water Management District, West Palm Beach, FL.

Volety, A.K., M. Savarese, S.G. Tolley, W.S. Arnold, P. Sime, P. Goodman, R.H. Chamberlain and P.H. Doering. 2009. Eastern oysters (*Crassostrea virginica*) as an indicator for restoration of Everglades Ecosystems. Ecological Indicators, 9s:s120–s136.

Wells, H.W. 1961. The fauna of oyster beds, with special reference to the salinity factor. Ecological Monographs 31(3):239-266.

Wilson, C., L. Scotto, J. Scarpa, A. Volety, S. Laramore and D. Haunert. 2005. Survey of water quality, oyster reproduction and oyster health status in the St. Lucie Estuary. J. Shellfish Res., 24: 157-165.

Winstead J.T. and L.A. Courtney. 2003. Ovacystis-like condition in the eastern oyster *Crassostrea virginica* from the northeastern Gulf of Mexico. Dis. Aquat. Org., 53: 89-90.

Winstead J.T., A.K. Volety and S.G. Tolley. 2004. Parasitic and symbiotic fauna in oysters (*Crassostrea virginica*) collected from the Caloosahatchee River and estuary in Florida. J. Shellfish Res., 23: 831-840.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Dr. Bill Arnold, Dr. Steve Geiger and Ms. Melanie Parker of Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission; Florida Wildlife Research Institute in St. Petersburg, Florida for assistance with the start-up of this project; Mr. R. LeRoy Creswell of the St. Lucie County Cooperative Extension Service for supplying oyster shell; the histology lab at Florida Atlantic University-Boca Raton for use of their facilities; Dr. Paul Wills and Dr. Ed Proffitt of HBOI and FAU, respectively, for statistical analysis advice; Dr. Aswani Volety of Florida Gulf Coast University and Mr. Jim Winstead for assistance with parasite identification, Mr. Federico Prahl, Ms. Michelle Harangody, and Mr. William Krebs of HBOI for technical assistance, and the staff of MacArthur State Park, Ibis Isle and the Lake Worth Municipal Golf Course for their cooperation.